# **Education, Training and Careers in Moving Image Preservation by Gregory Lukow**

This essay is a modified and condensed version of an article originally published in Film History volume 12, number 2 (2000).

#### **Table of Contents:**

The Question of a Profession
Education - The Missing Link
From "Training" to "Education"
The Situation Today: Filling in the Missing Link:
 FIAF Summer Schools
 University of East Anglia Masters Program
 Association of Moving Image Archivists Education Activities
 George Eastman House School of Film Preservation
 ARCHIMEDIA European Training Network
 University of New South Wales Internet Classes
 Society of Archivists (UK) Distance Learning Diploma
 UCLA Moving Image Archive Studies Program
Endnotes

## The Question of a Profession

The emergence of the moving image archival field as a true profession with the possibility of both vocational and academic credentials is a comparatively recent phenomenon, one that has been consistently and clearly articulated as a desirable pursuit and collaborative goal only within the past 10-15 years. As recently as 1995, the status of the field as a profession was not yet a given in the eyes of those in the forefront of examining the issue from both historical and philosophical points of view. Writing in that year, archivist Ray Edmondson felt compelled to pose the question in the starkest terms as the title of his article: "Is Film Archiving a Profession?" (1) In this essay, Edmondson proposed a definition of a profession appropriate to the archival field in the following terms:

A profession is a field of remunerative work which involves university level training and preparation, has a sense of vocation or long term commitment, involves distinctive skills and expertise, worldview, standards and ethics. Implies continuing development of its defining knowledge base, and of its individual practitioners.

Edmonson's essay was the first to articulate these issues and elaborate on their applicability within the history of the moving image archival community. In the article, he suggests several of the essential components still lacking in achieving the stated definition of a "profession." These missing links included the absence of permanent university-level training courses or accreditation standards, a fieldwide code of ethics, a formal professional association, and a "base of theory which served to define the profession, its principles and worldview."

In recent years, however, a number of steps have been taken - and milestones reached - which have started to fill in several of these "missing links." The publication of A Philosophy of Audiovisual Archiving under the auspices of UNESCO in June 1998

(2) has provided an initial response to the need to define key concepts and codify fieldwide values and assumptions. Also in 1998, the International Federation of Film Archives/Fédération Internationale des Archives du Film (FIAF) drafted an interesting "Code of Ethics" that was written to be applicable to both archival institutions and individual archivists, and which it hopes to use in the future as a basis for institutional affiliation within the federation. (3)

Perhaps the most significant recent accomplishment in the development of the profession was the creation of the Association of Moving Image Archivists (AMIA) — the first individual-based professional association for the hundreds of working archivists and others involved in film, television and video preservation. Formally established in 1991, achieving dramatic growth throughout the 1990s, and broadening its scope from an initially North American perspective to an international membership base, AMIA broke the mold of existing film and television archival organizations. It did so with a previously unimaginable commitment to openness and inclusiveness, and, more fundamentally, as the first such membership organization to embrace film and video preservationists from both the public and private sectors - the first to give both non-profit and commercial preservation interests equal representation in setting and implementing an agenda for the profession.

# **Education - The Missing Link**

But despite these achievements — the development of a code of ethics, a philosophy of key concepts and values, and a true professional association — there has remained an essential missing ingredient in the formula for the profession: the need for permanent university-based training and accreditation in range of locations around the world.

Throughout the 1970s and 1980s, all educational opportunities within the moving image archival community were offered intermittently, on a short-course or stand-alone workshop basis. Their availability was widely dispersed geographically among the congresses or regional gatherings of library and archival organizations, and available primarily to new and existing staff of institutions who were members of these organizations. One observer described the situation as of 1990:

On investigation one finds only evidence of seminars, short courses, summer schools or symposia, given on a national, regional or international basis. Although these can help the situation by giving knowledge or know-how and skills needed for certain jobs, they will never be a substitute for professional education based on scientific methods.... Such training courses and seminars usually specialise in selected practical problems, are available to very limited target audiences, and are very limited in terms of time. Even the best of them last for only a few weeks. Theoretical knowledge is seldom part of the course, there is not enough time to develop themes adequately, and the function of such courses is more often restricted to the improvement of performance on specific and limited tasks. (4)

Another, writing in 1992, commented:

Aside from the occasional summer school for new archivists, organized by FIAF and held at the Staatliches Filmarchiv der DDR, and the equally infrequent single-session university classroom surveys of film preservation, there had been no attempt to offer courses of study in film preservation and film archives administration. The obvious reasons were that there are insufficient positions available for would-be archivists, and most of the work involved in the running of a film archives is far removed from the world of academia. The major figures in the American film archival field trained themselves...[they] started at the bottom and slowly graduated to administration. (5)

This last observation is especially trenchant. Even today, by the year 2000, the overwhelming majority of film and video archivists who are working to collect, preserve, and provide access to moving images have entered the field through on-the-job experience. The development of new generations of archivists has always relied upon unsystematic and often long-term apprenticeships that tend to focus on a limited range of specialized technical skills. Such narrowly defined models of archival training have generally excluded the complex social, philosophical and cultural contexts in which modern, professional archival practice is grounded. Academic degrees, when they have had relevance, usually came from other areas of study - film or cultural history, media production, the library and information sciences, or general liberal arts studies.

Fortunately, this situation is changing, and the dominance of exclusively on-the-job training is gradually receding - again, a crucial factor in establishing the field as a viable profession. Significant progress has been during the past two decades. If one were to chart the history of this progress, a starting point could be found in 1980, when the first formal declaration of the importance of archival training on an international basis was adopted and published by UNESCO in its Recommendations for the Safeguarding and Preservation of Moving Images. (6) The goal of this resolution was to promote the importance of moving image preservation to the world cultural heritage, and encourage international cooperation in this effort among all nations, governments and non-governmental organizations (NGOs). Within these Recommendations, Article 19 states: "Training programmes on the safeguarding and restoration of moving images should be organized, covering the most recent methods and techniques."

The years immediately following the UNESCO declaration and throughout the 1980s saw a flowering of the regional seminars and technical symposia referred to above. A number of the regional events were held in developing nations, while the international symposia often involved the participation or collaboration of the major NGO archival organizations — FIAF, FIAT (International Federation of Television Archives), IASA (International Association of Sound Archives), ICA (International Council on Archives), and IFLA (International Federation of Library Associations). These gatherings consistently received UNESCO support.

By the mid 1980s, the archival NGOs were eager to further coordinate their initiatives and to set forth a collaborative agenda for the general development of archival training on an international scale. In 1987, with UNESCO sponsorship, representatives from these and other educational organizations met in Berlin to convene a "Round Table on Curriculum Development." The work of this meeting was continued in a series of follow-up discussions by an international Working Group, as well as internally within several of the NGOs who created ad hoc committees to articulate their individual perspectives on training issues and needs. These deliberations culminated in 1990 with the distribution by UNESCO of Curriculum Development for the Training of Personnel in Moving Image and Recorded Sound Archives - the first major publication on the subject to appear within the archival field. (7) The book set forth the results of the previous Round Table and Working Group meetings under such headings as "Training Needs for AV Archivists," "General Principles of Audiovisual Archiving," "Recommended Standards for Training," "Organisation and Harmonisation of Education Programmes," and an Annex of "Course Curricula."

# From "Training" to "Education"

Until the beginning of the 1990s, the development of moving image archival skills and knowledge sets was described, for the most part, as a matter of "training" rather than "education," be it post-secondary or continuing. Similarly, the individuals who needed to learn these skills were usually considered to be the "staff" or "personnel" of archives, rather than, simply and more expansively, "students." The location of training was assumed optimally to be "in-site" at "archives" or "archival centers," and only rarely were "universities" directly suggested. And the structure and scope of the knowledge to be taught was most often described in terms of a "technical" or "scientific" practicum that focuses on a range of specialized skills, rather than as

an "academic" model with curricular and degree offerings that combines hands-on training with broader, interdisciplinary requirements.

In the United States, the only activities of relevance within any major universities were a few informal internship programs and the infrequent film courses with an archival focus that were offered periodically at several schools. These rare examples included single courses offered at UCLA in conjunction with the university's Film and Television Archive, at New York University in collaboration with the Film Department of the Museum of Modern Art, and at Ohio State University with the assistance of the Library of Congress Motion Picture Conservation Center in Dayton, Ohio.

Only in the early 1990s did the impetus to develop permanent, university-based archival programs and postgraduate degrees finally emerge. A number of factors helped bring this about. For example, the 1990 UNESCO publication on Curriculum Development..., despite its lingering archive-centered focus on the need to train existing personnel, did, nonetheless, assert the value of cross-disciplinary education and all-round training within all areas of archival practice - as opposed to strict divisions of labor along lines of technical specialization. The publication also provided the initial results of a global survey of hundreds of universities - predominantly library science and history departments - who were asked about their potential interest in providing training for audiovisual archivists.

Also in 1990, the inauguration of a new masters-level degree in film archiving at the University of East Anglia (see below) and the appearance shortly thereafter of its first graduates on the job market opened many eyes to a new sense of the possible. In the United States and Canada, a related phenomenon began to assert itself: the growing number of college and university students who - despite the absence of any formal archive studies degree programs - were nonetheless forging ahead and creating their own concurrent or cross-disciplinary degrees by combining courses of study in film and television history, library science, or information studies. By the mid-1990s, these students had become a visible and active presence at annual conferences of the Association of Moving Image Archivists, and a number were finding jobs in both non-profit and commercial archives. This phenomenon was further recognized in 1997, when AMIA began offering the world's first scholarship program in moving image archive studies - a milestone that was all the more remarkable, given that no such dedicated programs yet existed in North America.

Another important factor in the broadening of archival education opportunities, at least in the United States, was the series of congressionally-mandated hearings and national-planning assessments for both film and television/video preservation that were conducted by the Library of Congress between 1993 and 1997. The testimony delivered during the course of these national studies involved all sectors of the field: public and private, national and regional, academic and archival. As a result of this process, the creation of formal education and training programs for moving image preservation has now been specifically articulated as a national priority for the American archival community. To quote from Redefining Film Preservation: A National Plan, the 1994 report back to the U.S. Congress from the Librarian of Congress and the National Film Preservation Board, Recommendation 4.11 reads:

Create a systematic graduate program for educating new film preservation professionals and continuing education opportunities for those already in the field. Because film preservation is rapidly changing, so too are the educational needs of film preservation professionals. Traditionally, film archivists have learned their skills on the job. As preservation has matured and technology grown more complex, ad hoc instruction is no longer adequate. New professionals require background in a broader range of subjects - from chemistry to information systems - as well as exposure to

different types of nonprofit and commercial facilities specializing in preservation work. Recognizing these changing workplace demands, the United Kingdom has established a graduate program for film archivists. No similar program is now available in the United States. (8)

Finally, the field of moving image preservation itself has entered a period of dramatic transition. Twenty years ago, when one heard a student or young person express the desire to work in a moving image archive, this generally meant the hope for a job working hands-on to preserve classic Hollywood movies in one of the handful of well-known not-for-profit film archives in the United States. The number of individuals actually employed in these hands-on preservation and restoration positions was relatively small.

Today, students looking to enter the preservation job market is faced with a diverse and often confusing array of national and local archives, specialized collections, museums, historical societies, research institutes, production studios, broadcast companies, stock footage suppliers, laboratories, vault facilities, software developers, and other service providers. Students must face the need to work with collections both large and small comprised not only of film, television and video materials, but also, increasingly, of moving images originating in digital file formats. They must also position their careers within divisions of labor and job functions that are increasingly specialized. In the public sector, these include directors, curators, film librarians, archivists, preservation officers, vault managers, catalogers, documentation specialists, and programmers. In the private sector they include executives and managers of corporate assets, post-production operations, technical services, film and tape operations, intellectual property, and footage sales and research. At the same time, the field still includes many small one or two-person archives with local or regional mandates in which some knowledge of the entire spectrum of these archival skills remains important.

Indeed, one of the biggest challenges in the immediate future will be to provide education and training that meets the divergent needs of this profession. To give just one example: the very real dichotomy between archivists who work with historic film materials and those whose focus is on videotape and the many analog and digital video formats. This is a distinction between, on the one hand, archivists and film enthusiasts who venerate the look and feel of film and are committed to preserving film as film, and, on the other hand, the many television/video librarians and digital asset managers who may never handle film in their lives or who will perform most of their archival work at a computer keyboard. Both are making crucial contributions to the preservation of our moving image heritage.

# The Situation Today: Filling in the Missing Link

What follows is a summary of the international training and education opportunities for moving image archivists that are currently available on an ongoing basis. The programs described include a diverse range of educational models: traditional summer schools and short courses, archive-centered schools, university-based curriculum and degrees, distance learning initiatives, online tutorials and resource guides, (9) academic scholarships, as well as other imaginative new networking approaches. Building on the history of progress to date, these programs are often the result of new collaborations and partnerships among archives, universities, film studies departments, library and information science schools, and professional associations, as well as preservation laboratories and other private-sector organizations.

The individual training programs described below are presented in the chronological order of their establishment. The information provided - taken primarily from publicly available sources - was current as of January 2000.

#### **FIAF Summer Schools**

The summer schools of the International Federation of Film Archives have been taught on an intermittent basis (on average about once every three years) over the past three decades by member institutions of the federation. The first summer school was held in 1973 at the former (East German) Staatliches Filmarchiv in Berlin, and most subsequent courses were also offered in Berlin. Later courses were held at the Danish Film Institute in Copenhagen, the National Film and Television Archive in London and, most recently in 1998, at the George Eastman House in Rochester, New York. The schools are structured as a three-week intensive training unit with a heavy technical focus designed to take advantage of the curatorial, vault and laboratory facilities of these major film archives. Admissions have been primarily oriented to staff from FIAF member organizations and from developing archives in other nations around the world.

As of this writing, the next FIAF summer school has not yet been scheduled. For updates on the schools, see the federation's web site at www.cinema.ucla.edu/FIAF/english/edu.html, or contact the FIAF Secretariat at 1 rue Defacqz, B-1000 Brussels, Belgium; email info@fiafnet.org.

## **University of East Anglia Masters Program**

In 1990, the University of East Anglia in Norwich, England, inaugurated the first university-based, graduate-level program in film archiving. The program was created in response, in its words, "to the demand within the expanding national and international film archive world for an appropriate formal course of training." Currently offered through the university's School of English and American Studies, the one-year modular program is available as a Film Archive option within the School's long-standing MA in Film Studies. Enrollment has been limited to 6-8 students per year.

The East Anglia program was the first to combine existing academic coursework - the focus of the Film Studies MA is on film history and theory - with basic, hands-on training. Students take two seminars from the Film Studies MA, plus two specialist courses in archiving. These practical courses are based at the university's East Anglian Film Archive, one of the United Kingdom's leading regional film collections. At the end of the program's second semester, students undertake a four-week placement at a selected archive in Britain or abroad. The university's promotional material for the program notes that it "equips students not only for posts in film archives and related areas of media research, but also for archivally-based doctoral research in film history."

See www.uea.ac.uk/eas/fs/fscourse/ma.htm for additional information on the East Anglia MA program.

#### **Association of Moving Image Archivists Education Activities**

One of the fundamental tenets of AMIA's mission statement is "support for the education and professional development of moving image archivists." Since its establishment in 1991, AMIA has developed a range of educational programs and services, working though the association's Education Committee (the successor to an earlier Archival Training Working Group). In 1998, the committee conducted a detailed survey of the AMIA memberships' education needs, and also identified moving image internship programs at universities, archives, and archive-related companies. The committee also administers the world's first moving image preservation scholarship program.

AMIA Training Workshops: Since its creation, AMIA has offered a number of training workshop presented in conjunction with its annual Fall conferences. Most visible of these has been its "Basic Training Workshop," first offered in 1993. This day-long seminar is designed for media archivists and librarians who find themselves involved with moving image collections and need fun-

damental information about the nature of film and videotape materials. The workshop brings participants up-to-speed by acquainting them with basic terminology, formats, equipment, and conservation, storage and cataloging methods. In addition to this basic training seminar, AMIA has conducted other workshops on such topics as grant-writing, cataloging practice, the identification of amateur film gauges, digital asset management software applications, and, for the first time during its 1999 conference in Montreal, an intermediate-level training workshop.

AMIA Scholarship Program: In 1997, with support from the Mary Pickford Foundation, AMIA began awarding the first scholarship designed specifically for students pursuing careers in moving image archiving. The Pickford Scholarship was joined in 1998 by the Sony Pictures Scholarship; supported by Sony Pictures Entertainment, it became the first financial award in the field to be endowed on a permanent basis. A third scholarship - the CFI Sid Solow Scholarship - was established in 1999 by the Consolidated Film Industries laboratory. These scholarships - initially each in the amount of \$3,000, and increased to \$4,000 beginning in 2000 - are given as financial assistance to students of merit. Applicants must be enrolled or accepted in a graduate-level or other advanced program in film or television studies or production, library or information services, archival administration, museum studies or a related discipline.

In 1999, a new dimension was added to the AMIA scholarship program when the Eastman Kodak Company announced that it would begin sponsoring an annual Kodak/AMIA Fellowship in the amount of \$10,000 for students working toward careers in moving image archiving. The program will contain three components: a scholarship of \$4,000 per year, a paid summer internship at Kodak, and financial support to attend the annual AMIA conference. The Kodak/AMIA Fellowship will be awarded for the first time in 2000.

Students or anyone interested in a career in moving image preservation would be well-advised to join AMIA, network with its members, subscribe to its online discussion listserv, and - most importantly - attend its annual conferences. The field is still relatively small enough (AMIA currently has about 600 members) that getting to know the international film and video archival community firsthand can be an important step to getting a job in the profession. AMIA members have a strong history of sharing information, and there are numerous opportunities for volunteer participation in AMIA's committees and activities; by volunteering, one can gain experience while also making contacts in the field.

See www.amianet.org for more information on AMIA and its educational activities, including the application form for the AMIA Scholarship Program. The 1998 AMIA Education Survey: Summary (February 1999) is available from the association's office at 8949 Wilshire Blvd., Beverly Hills, California 90211; email AMIA@amianet.org.

#### George Eastman House School of Film Preservation

This training program - formally known as the L. Jeffrey Selznick School of Film Preservation - is based at the George Eastman House International Museum of Photography and Film in Rochester, New York. It opened the doors to its inaugural class in September 1996. Describing itself as the world's first school of film preservation, this one-year program — integrated within the day-to-day activities of one of the leading international film archives — offers the most extensive hands-on, practice-based course of study of any training program currently available.

The school is taught primarily by staff of the Eastman House Motion Picture Department, complemented by numerous guest lectures throughout the year by international specialists from all sectors of the field, as well as field trips to other archival facilities and laboratories in the region. The school year is divided into four quarters and includes practicum courses organized so

that each student will spend at least one week per quarter working closely with Eastman House staff in charge of specific areas of activity (curatorial, print inspection, cataloging, preservation, vault management, projection, etc.). Individual and team projects enable students for further extend their hands-on experience. The school has a grading system and certificates are awarded to those who successfully complete the program. Enrollment has been limited to 10-15 students per year, with an existing undergraduate degree or its equivalent required for admission.

An interesting component of the school is its arrangement with the Haghefilm Laboratory in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, which each year awards a fellowship to one student upon graduation from the program. Recipients of the fellowship are supported for one month of study and training at the laboratory, where they work to preserve a short film from the Eastman House collections. Students are given credit for their preservation work on the restored prints.

Since its opening, the George Eastman House school has clearly made an impact on the North American preservation community. Its students have been active participants in annual archive conferences and events, and a significant number of its graduates have gone on to obtain employment in archives and laboratories in both the public and private sectors.

See www.eastman.org/16\_preserv/16\_index.html for additional information on the GEH Selznick School.

### **ARCHIMEDIA European Training Network**

Offering its first courses in January-February 1997, ARCHIMEDIA describes itself as a "European training network for the promotion of cinema heritage." The network brings together European film archives and universities with film studies departments, all working in collaboration with high-technology laboratories. The initiative was founded by the Cinémathèque royale de Belgique in Brussels (where it is headquartered) and the Université de Paris III with the support of the Media 2 Programme of the European Union. Originally involving 15 organizations, by 1999 the network had grown to 22, including nine archives (all FIAF affiliates), nine universities, and four laboratories. The members are from seven EU countries: Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, The Netherlands, Portugal and Great Britain.

The intellectual scope of the program is ambitious, emphasizing the relation of archives to the constructs of film history, the transition from old to new media, the rethinking of restoration and access in the context of new and expanding digital platforms - all oriented toward the goal of more effectively managing, using, studying and promoting moving image collections. Each year ARCHIMEDIA offers a two-tier program: an Introductory Course for university students and young professionals, and an Advanced Course designed for professionals and academics from the audiovisual community. The Advanced program is actually a series of seminars and colloquia on specialized themes and open to all. By July 1999, eleven Advanced sessions had been held on such topics as the new film history, relations between archives and rights holders, new restoration technologies, nonfiction film, music in silent films, and the politics and censorship of the film heritage.

Of more immediate interest for the purposes of this essay is the Introductory Course, open to 30 applicants per year who are nationals from member states of the EU or European Economic Area. To complete this course, students are required to take 225 hours of instruction followed by 75 hours of practical training within one of the laboratories or archives associated with the ARCHIMEDIA network. Annual instruction is organized in five intensive modules, each 3-5 days long and hosted by archives and universities throughout the member nations. In 1999, the Introductory Course modules were: "The Management of Film Archives" (a double module taught in Paris), "Film Restoration" (Brussels), "Bringing Cinema to the Audience" (London), and "Cinema History and the Collections of European Archives" (Amsterdam)." These were followed by a two-week internship at

the Cinemateca Portuguesa in Lisbon. Upon completion of the entire program, participants receive an ARCHIMEDIA certificate detailing the nature of the training.

See www.ledoux.be/archimedia/ for additional information on the ARCHIMEDIA training network. [Note: At the time of this writing, the ARCHIMEDIA site had not been updated since June 1999 and Introductory Course information after that date was not available.]

#### **University of New South Wales Internet Classes**

This Australian-based distance learning program offers a Graduate Certificate in Commerce with a specialization in Audiovisual Management. Inaugurated in 1997, it was the first professional education program for film, television and sound archiving available over the Web. The program was developed through a partnership of the University of New South Wales (UNSW) in Sydney, and ScreenSound Australia (formerly the National Film and Sound Archive) in Canberra. Within the university, the program is available through the School of Information Systems, Technology and Management (SISTM). The principal content of the course material was written by senior staff members of ScreenSound Australia. Staff from both the School and ScreenSound provide lecture and tutorial support.

The Graduate Certificate curriculum available via the internet can be completed within one year and is comprised of four course subjects: "Audiovisual Management," "Preservation and Conservation of Audiovisual Materials," "Advanced Audiovisual and Multimedia Management," and a fourth elective subject or special project chosen by the student. Each of the courses contains a series of 13 or 14 modules taught over as many weeks. While hands-on experience and technical training are obviously not available through the online program, the text-based curriculum is extremely rich in detail, with emphases in the history of audiovisual technology and archiving, collection policy and development, preservation and treatment, access services, and philosophical, ethical and legal issues. The text is accompanied throughout by graphic and photo illustrations as well as links to other resources and reference materials.

In addition to the four-subject, internet-based Graduate Certificate, students in residence at UNSW pursuing the Audiovisual Management specialization can take additional coursework to receive a Graduate Diploma (six subjects), a Master of Commerce (twelve subjects), or a Master of Information Management (twelve subjects). As another alternative to the Graduate Certificate, the online program can be completed as a continuing education course without formal assessment; in this case students receive a certificate of participation from the university.

See www.silas.unsw.edu.au/silas/distedu.htm for additional information on the University of New South Wales internet program. [update: This program is now at Charles Sturt University in New South Wales http://www.screensound.gov.au/Expertise.nsf/Sub+Pages/Graduate+Certificate+in+Audiovisual+Archiving/.]

#### Society of Archivists (UK) Distance Learning Diploma

The most recent addition to the field of training opportunities is a new distance education module in Audio-Visual Archives Administration offered by the Society of Archivists (the United Kingdom's equivalent of the Society of American Archivists). This module is a new component within a two-year postgraduate Diploma in Archive Administration for working archivists seeking formal qualification; the overall program has been offered by the Society since 1980. The diploma is designed to be equivalent in standard to diplomas awarded by UK universities, and is open to applicants who are individual members of the Society of Archivists, or who work at organizations which are institutional members. Coursework includes three compulsory and two

optional modules selected from a total of ten modules devoted to various aspects of archival practice and records management in a range of archival settings (government, business, religious, estate, etc.).

In 1999, the new Audio-Visual Archives Administration module was established as an optional tenth module within the overall diploma structure. This module can also be taken by itself for a Single Module Certificate. The module is comprised of eight units on the physical formats of film, video, photographs and sound, and on oral history, documentation, acquisition, and access and copyright. Authors and tutors for these individual units come from a range of UK institutions that are members of the Society's Film and Sound Group, including the Wessex Film and Sound Archive, Wales Film and Television Archive, Tate Gallery, British Library National Sound Archive, ITV Network Centre, British Film Institute, and East Anglian Film Archive.

See www.archives.org.uk/training/soadip.html for additional information on the Society of Archivists distance learning module.

#### **UCLA Moving Image Archive Studies Program**

In September 1998, the UCLA Film and Television Archive received a three-year grant from the U.S. Department of Education's Fund for the Improvement of Post-Secondary Education (FIPSE) to develop a new graduate degree program in Moving Image Archive Studies (MIAS) — the first university-based program of its kind in North America. The MIAS program is being developed by the Film and Television Archive in collaboration with UCLA's Department of Film and Television and the Department of Information Studies.

The pilot phase of planning for the program began in Fall 1998, and formal steps are currently underway to establish the MIAS program as its own two-year Masters degree jointly administered by the two Departments. It is anticipated that 6-10 new students will be admitted to the program each academic year.

Although the new degree is not yet formally in place, a new curriculum in Moving Image Archive Studies has been designed and courses are being taught. Building on the existing core curricula of the Film and Television and Information Studies departments, the program also offers six new specialized graduate seminars created specifically for the MIAS program and providing instruction in the fundamental aspects of archival practice. Three of these new courses - "Film Curatorship," "The Archaeology of the Media," and "Moving Image Preservation and Restoration" — were taught in school year 1998-1999 through the Department of Film and Television. The remaining three — "Cataloging Moving Images," "Digital Collections of Still and Moving Images," and "Collections Development and Management" — are being offered for the first time in 1999-2000 through the Department of Information Studies. (10) Courses are taught by a combination of UCLA faculty, visiting scholars and preservation specialists, supplemented by guest lecturers from outside the university.

A key goal of the program is to link theory and practice. The program will provide practical on-site training and apprenticeships through formal internship programs within the UCLA Archive and at other locations in the film and television industry. The Los Angeles area will provide a wealth of internship settings, including opportunities at studios, television networks, laboratories and vault facilities, digital post-production houses, and other regional archives, libraries and special collections. The internship program will be developed in collaboration with intern supervisors at each location in order to involve students with a range of archival activities in a structured educational framework.

At the same time, because of the University setting and because of the organic relationship to established academic programs, the archive studies program must be more than vocational in nature. The program will place hands-on training in the context

of a broader education grounded in historical, critical and theoretical study - a curriculum combining aesthetic judgment, historical knowledge, awareness of social relevance, familiarity with new technologies, the ethics of preservation and restoration, and the cultural responsibilities of selection, curatorship and public access.

The MIAS program recognizes that traditional models of archival work have been redefined in recent years to emphasize moving image preservation as an ongoing process of activities along a continuum that includes curatorship, laboratory preservation, storage management, cataloging, and access. The program will encourage familiarity with all these closely related archival functions, while also providing opportunities for specialization within them.

Summer Training Workshops: In addition to the formal MIAS graduate degree, UCLA is also developing a summer "continuing education" component of the moving image archive studies initiative. This training program will be structured through a series of four intensive, hands-on workshops and laboratories, each two to three weeks in length, whose curricula will be cumulative in effect. The workshops in their planned order of sequence are: "Identification, Inspection and Diagnosis," "Preservation and Restoration," "Laboratory Practices and Image Quality," and "Information Systems and Digital Asset Management." The program is designed to address the vocational needs of archivists just entering or already working in corporate, production or national-level archives with specialized staff, as well as one or two-person archives with local mandates or smaller collections. For current information on the Moving Image Archive Studies program, see the UCLA Film and Television Archive's web site at www.cinema.ucla.edu. It is hoped that the model established by the MIAS program will represent significant promise for the future of archival education and the development of the profession. By bringing together a film studies department, an information sciences department, a full-service university-based moving image archive, and the support of laboratories, digital post-production facilities and other technical service providers, it is a model that we hope will be taken up by other universities in the United States and abroad who have access to a similar constellation of partners.

#### **Endnotes:**

- (1) Ray Edmondson, "Is Film Archiving a Profession?," Film History v 7, n 3 (Autumn 1995): 245-255.
- (2) A Philosophy of Audiovisual Archiving, by Ray Edmondson and the members of the Audiovisual Archiving Philosophy Interest Network (AVAPIN) for the General Information Programme and UNISIST, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. Paris: UNESCO, June 1998. Available online at www.unesco.org/webworld/en/highlights/audiovisual\_archiving/philo1.htm; also available for download in RTF format at www.unesco.org/webworld/en/highlights/audiovisual archiving/study.rtf.
- (3) "Code of Ethics," Brussels, Belgium: Fédération Internationale des Archives du Film (FIAF), 1998. Available online in English at www.cinema.ucla.edu/FIAF/english/code.html.
- (4) Helen P. Harrison, "Training for Audiovisual Archivists," in Audiovisual Archives: A Practical Reader, compiled and edited by Helen P. Harrison. Paris: General Information Programme and UNISIST, UNESCO, March 1997, page 404. Originally published as "Training and the Conservation of Audiovisual Materials," in Handbook of Library Training Practice Vol. 2, edited by Ray Prytherch. Gower, Aldershot, 1990. The book Audiovisual Archives: A Practical Reader is available in its entirety as a pdf file that can be downloaded at the UNESCO library of Full Text Documents. To download, go to http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ulis/ and search "All Documents" by the title.
- (5) Anthony Slide, Nitrate Won't Wait. Jefferson, NC: McFarland & Company, Inc., 1992, page 145.
- (6) UNESCO, Recommendation for the Safeguarding and Preservation of Moving Images. Adopted by the General Conference at its twenty-first session, Belgrade, 27 October 1980. Paris: UNESCO, 1980.

- (7) UNESCO, General Information Programme and UNISIST. Curriculum Development for the Training of Personnel in Moving Image and Recorded Sound Archives. Paris: UNESCO, March 1990. 104 pp. For a more detailed history of the UNESCO-sponsored development of training during the 1980s, see: Wolfgang Klaue, "New Media Require Specialized Archivists: Training and Education for Audiovisual Archives," in Audiovisual Archives: A Practical Reader. Paris: UNESCO, 1997, p. 365-370. Originally published in Archivum 34 (1988): 113-124.
- (8) Redefining Film Preservation: A National Plan. Recommendations of the Librarian of Congress in Consultation with the National Film Preservation Board. Washington, DC: Library of Congress, August 1994, pages 17-18.
- (9) One initiative not described in detail below is that of FAOL Film Archives Online Network. This is a planned web-based tutorial being developed by the GAMMA European Research Group of Film Archives and Laboratories, headquartered at the Cineteca del Comune di Bologna in Italy. The project is intended to produce a set of tools related specifically to the theory and practice of film preservation and restoration that will be of use, in the first instance, to technical staff of film archives and laboratories. An outline description of the project is available at http://www2.iperbole.bologna.it/faol/index.html, although this site has not been updated since March 1998.
- (10) These new courses have made possible a degree of specialization within the existing MA offered by the Department of Film and Television and the MLIS offered by the Department of Information Studies. Students currently enrolled can now earn an MA in Film and Television with an effective specialization in Moving Image Archive Studies, or an MLIS in Information Studies with a Post-MLIS Certificate of specialization in Moving Image Archive Studies. Until the MIAS program is formally established within the university as its own degree, applications to the curriculum can only made through either of the two departments.